
 United Nations  E/2014/SR.52 

  

Economic and Social Council  
Distr.: General 

13 February 2015 

 

Original: English 

 

 

 

This record is subject to correction. 

Corrections should be submitted in one of the working languages. They should be set forth in  

a memorandum and also incorporated in a copy of the record. They should be sent as soon as 

possible to the Chief of the Documents Control Unit (srcorrections@un.org).  

Corrected records will be reissued electronically on the Official Document System of the  

United Nations (http://documents.un.org/). 

14-65057 (E) 

*1465057*  
 

Substantive session of 2014 

Fourth coordination and management meeting* 
 

Summary record of the 52nd meeting 

Held at Headquarters, New York, on Tuesday, 18 November 2014, at 10 a.m. 
 

 President: Mr. Oh Joon (Vice-President) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   (Republic of Korea) 
 

 

 

Contents 
 

Coordination, programme and other questions (continued) 

(e) African countries emerging from conflict 

(d) Long-term programme of support for Haiti 

 
 

 

 * Owing to the adjustment of the Council’s programme of work to a July-to-July cycle, the 

fourth coordination and management meeting of 2014 is also part of the 2015 session.  



E/2014/SR.52 
 

 

14-65057 2/10 

 

 

In the absence of Mr. Sajdik (Austria), Mr. Oh Joon 

(Republic of Korea), Vice-President, took the Chair. 

 

The meeting was called to order at 10.10 a.m. 
 

 

Coordination, programme and other questions 

(continued) 
 

 (e) African countries emerging from conflict 

(E/2014/94 and E/2014/L.33) 
 

1. Mr. Drobnjak (Croatia), Vice-Chair of the 

Peacebuilding Commission, said that the ongoing 

partnership between the Council and the Peacebuilding 

Commission was of crucial importance because of the 

linkages between peacebuilding and socioeconomic 

development. In 2015, 10 years after the creation of the 

Peacebuilding Commission, a review mandated by the 

General Assembly and the Security Council would look 

at ways to strengthen the performance and impact of 

the peacebuilding architecture. Since 2010, following 

the first such review, the Commission had made 

significant progress in supporting post-conflict 

countries. Its first annual session, held in June 2014, 

had offered it an opportunity to examine experience 

gained and to highlight areas and approaches in which 

it could demonstrate its continuing commitment and 

growing relevance to peace consolidation and 

development. Participants had recognized its positive 

impact in the six post-conflict countries on its agenda 

and Member States had called for a strengthening of its 

relationship with the Economic and Social Council, as 

well as with the General Assembly and the Security 

Council. Its success would always be measured by its 

impact in the field in resolving issues politically and 

preventing any relapse into conflict.  

2. In Burundi, the Commission had encouraged the 

Government and its partners to press ahead with 

reforms and honour their commitments. It had also 

provided policy support for the transition from the 

United Nations Office in Burundi to a country team, 

under the leadership of the Minister for Foreign Affairs 

and the Special Representative of the Secretary-

General for Burundi. The Chair of the Commission had 

briefed the Security Council three times in 2014 and 

had played a leading role in a round-table meeting at 

which the Government and its international partners 

had reiterated their mutual commitments, particularly 

with a view to the 2015 elections. 

3. In the Central African Republic, the current 

fragile security situation and the temporary nature of 

the Government made it very difficult to design a 

relevant role for the Commission. Once a transition 

plan had been developed and endorsed by the United 

Nations and the Government, the Commission could 

help to mobilize regional support. 

4. In Guinea, the Commission had been exploring 

ways of assisting the new Parliament, building on its 

engagement during the political dialogue, which had 

contributed to the peaceful conclusion of the 2013 

legislative elections. The Peacebuilding Support Office 

had supported that early planning phrase and, together 

with the United Nations Development Programme, had 

undertaken a mission to identify mechanisms for 

providing support. Since the Ebola outbreak, the 

Commission had met three times to consider the 

potential impact of the epidemic on State institutions 

and political stability in Guinea, Liberia and Sierra 

Leone and to promote a coherent international 

response. 

5. In Guinea-Bissau, following the illegitimate 

change of government in April 2012, which had 

hampered the work of the Commission, the election of 

a new leadership in April 2014 had led to a 

re-engagement of the international community with the 

country. The priorities identified by the Government 

were, in the short term, to pay the salaries of civil 

servants so as to support the establishment of an 

agricultural cycle plan, complete the 2013/14 school 

year, prepare for the following one, and prepare the 

national health system to face the Ebola threat; and, in 

the medium and long term, to review the peacekeeping 

strategic framework, which would feed into the 

peacebuilding priority plan. The Guinea-Bissau 

configuration, in partnership with the United Nations 

agencies in Bissau and regional actors, was supporting 

the Government to reach those objectives.  

6. In Liberia, while there had been some progress in 

justice and security capacity-building and national 

reconciliation, many commitments under the statement 

of mutual commitments remained unfulfilled. The 

Chair of the Liberia configuration had continued to 

draw attention to that situation nationally and 

internationally. With the continuing drawdown of the 

United Nations Mission in Liberia, Liberian 

institutions needed to increase their capacity to 

maintain satisfactory standards of justice, security and 

other related services across the country. The Chair had 

http://undocs.org/E/2014/94
http://undocs.org/E/2014/L.33


 
E/2014/SR.52 

 

3/10 14-65057 

 

highlighted the importance of the Government’s 

continued commitment and leadership in matters of 

justice and security. The fourth review of the statement 

of mutual commitments would need to take into 

account the effects of the Ebola crisis.  

7. In Sierra Leone, following the complete 

drawdown of the United Nations Integrated 

Peacebuilding Office in Sierra Leone, the Commission 

had continued to play an important role in support of 

the transition process, while it had also begun to define 

an exit strategy. A peacebuilding assessment mission 

led by the Commission in November 2013 had charted 

the Commission’s possible role in the country beyond 

March 2014 and had identified the significant potential 

of the constitutional review process for addressing 

issues relating to democratic governance, human 

rights, women’s rights, natural resources, land tenure 

and local government. The Government was giving 

priority to laying the foundations for socioeconomic 

development, and its vision, which the Commission 

supported, was to become a middle-income country by 

2035, as well as attract significant foreign investment 

in its natural resources. The Commission also 

supported the delivery of improved governance, social 

services and economic gains, which would be essential 

in convincing the broader population that they could 

continue to enjoy the dividends of peace. However, the 

Ebola crisis in Sierra Leone had hampered the 

Commission’s efforts to forge ahead with its transition 

plan. The Chairs of the country configurations for 

Sierra Leone, Guinea and Liberia were working 

together to explore the potential impact of the Ebola 

outbreak on State institutions, political stability and 

social cohesion in order to identify priorities for 

enhanced peacebuilding support for those three 

countries. 

8. By virtue of its mandate, which spanned the three 

pillars of the United Nations — peace and security, 

development and human rights — the Commission was 

uniquely placed to explore and advocate for policy 

developments in a holistic manner. It would continue 

to identify practical approaches, replicate successful 

experiences and apply lessons learned through 

partnerships with regional organizations and 

international financial institutions in the countries 

concerned. In that endeavour, closer collaboration with 

the Council would be greatly appreciated. 

9. Mr. Lanzer (Deputy Special Representative of 

the Secretary-General for the United Nations Mission 

in the Republic of South Sudan (UNMISS); United 

Nations Resident Coordinator and Humanitarian 

Coordinator, and Resident Representative of the United 

Nations Development Programme), speaking via video 

link from Juba, introduced the report of the Secretary-

General on the implementation of integrated, coherent 

and coordinated support to South Sudan by the United 

Nations system (E/2014/94). He said that, since the 

independence of South Sudan in 2011, the United 

Nations and other development partners had faced 

many challenges in terms of funding and operations to 

support the population’s social and economic 

aspirations. The current political crisis had added to 

their challenges as they had sought to engage in 

concerted humanitarian action while providing long-

term development assistance. 

10. Since the outbreak of the conflict in December 

2013, South Sudan had experienced the extensive 

destruction of its physical infrastructure, including 

schools and hospitals, devastation of its natural 

resources and mass displacements of its population; 

increased violence against journalists and human rights 

defenders; and a deep and lasting erosion of social 

trust. Food prices had rocketed and remained volatile; 

thousands of people had lost their livelihoods.  

11. In the context of an ongoing armed conflict in 

which the Government of South Sudan was a party, 

many donors in the development community had been 

reluctant to provide direct support to government 

institutions, even though sustainable development 

could best be achieved in partnership with them. Much 

international assistance had also been rechanneled 

from development to humanitarian aid. The United 

Nations Development Assistance Framework 

(UNDAF) had been revised by the country team in 

response to the new situation; it had recently been 

endorsed by both parties and extended to June 2016. 

Four key priorities had been identified for the United 

Nations: supporting core governance and civil service 

functions; reducing food insecurity; developing basic 

service delivery; and improving community security, 

reducing violence and improving access to justice,  the 

rule of law and human rights. The total budget required 

for that purpose was $1.34 billion. 

12. Many of the core goals of United Nations support 

to South Sudan remained unchanged, but the new 

operating environment had required the country team 

to revisit and revalidate UNDAF expected results. 

Because of the prevailing insecurity in the country, the 

http://undocs.org/E/2014/94


E/2014/SR.52 
 

 

14-65057 4/10 

 

team had also undertaken a programme criticality 

exercise in early 2014 in order to reprioritize 

development activities and guide implementation. The 

revised UNDAF included two additional areas focusing 

on early recovery and lasting solutions to the problem 

of displaced persons. The rationale for introducing 

those new areas was not only to enable United Nations 

development agencies to respond to emerging needs 

but also to encourage humanitarian actors to think 

about longer-term programming while delivering 

humanitarian aid in the current situation, in order to 

bridge the apparent divide between humanitarian 

action and development. Furthermore, the focus on the  

issue of displacement both within and outside South 

Sudan, including support for areas of return, was 

regarded as a key development step even in the midst 

of conflict. One sixth of the population, the 

overwhelming majority of whom were children and 

women, had been displaced either internally or as 

refugees. Assisting the 1.9 million persons concerned 

to return to normal life could enhance recovery, which 

would be crucial for the achievement of a lasting 

peace. For that to happen, a critical mass of issues, in 

particular reconciliation and the rule of law, needed to 

be addressed simultaneously. A thorough, joint, 

coordinated needs assessment was required, with a 

priority focus on humanitarian aid in the near term, but 

in parallel to development assistance, which should be 

expanded as soon as possible. Joint programmes would 

foster an effective, integrated response with built -in 

resilience, better prioritization and stronger synergies. 

Clear benchmarks for parallel humanitarian action and 

development, backed by flexible funding — in 

particular through multi-donor funds with multi-year 

horizons — could help to increase effectiveness. 

13. The challenges faced by South Sudan and the 

United Nations team over the previous year had been 

immense. Significant setbacks had occurred, and the 

environment had been characterized predominantly by 

emergency. Nevertheless, the team’s commitment to 

pursuing the longer-term development agenda 

remained constant. With the support of the Council and 

the wider international community, that commitment 

would be translated into action on the ground to benefit 

the people of South Sudan. 

14. Ms. Higgins (United Nations Children’s Fund 

(UNICEF)), speaking via video link from Juba, said 

that the international community had mobilized  

$1.2 billion for the humanitarian response in South 

Sudan. More than 3.5 million people had benefited 

from the resulting swift, life-saving response. 

However, the short-term and highly earmarked nature 

of humanitarian funding made that response 

increasingly sporadic and uneven. Funding was drying 

up for ongoing institutional development and there was 

little longer-term funding available for recovery and 

resilience programmes. A coordinated, synchronized 

response would maximize results for children. 

Increased cooperation among humanitarian and 

development agencies, donors and international 

financial institutions would ensure the necessary 

flexibility and complementarity between short-term 

and longer-term interventions. Government 

commitments and investments must match those of the 

international community. 

15. In South Sudan, health and education represented 

4 and 7 per cent of the national budget respectively, as 

compared with almost 40 per cent for security. In 

conflict-affected areas, teachers and health workers 

were going unpaid and many were finding paid work 

elsewhere. Oil production, while at less than half the 

post-independence level, provided a strong resource 

base that should be invested in social service delivery 

and systems-building across the country, even in areas 

controlled by the opposition. There had to be greater 

engagement at both state and county levels. One in 

nine children in South Sudan died before the age of 5; 

40 per cent of child deaths under the age of 5 were 

neonatal, indicating inadequate neonatal care; 2 of 

every 10 new HIV infections were among children and 

the proportion of children needing care who received it 

was less than 3 per cent. There were seasonal 

outbreaks of cholera, malaria, meningitis and 

leishmaniasis. In the current year, over 80 per cent of 

cholera cases had arisen in non-conflict-affected areas. 

In conflict-affected areas, 43 per cent of health 

facilities were not functioning, while across the 

country the poor access to health care was compounded 

by an acute shortage of health workers. UNICEF and 

the World Health Organization were taking immediate 

measures to address the situation, including through 

the provision of primary health care and integrated 

measles and polio vaccination campaigns targeting 

over 1.8 million children in conflict-affected areas. 

Those measures needed to be complemented by 

comprehensive efforts to strengthen the health system 

across the country and increase accountability at state, 

county and community levels. 



 
E/2014/SR.52 

 

5/10 14-65057 

 

16. Less than 10 per cent of children completed 

primary school in South Sudan, where the number, 

quality and retention of teachers presented a major 

challenge. Countrywide, 73 per cent of the population 

was illiterate, rising to over 85 per cent among women 

and girls. Because of inadequate secondary, tertiary 

and vocational education, South Sudan did not produce 

the skilled professionals and workers needed to build 

the country. The unemployment rate among those 

under the age of 35 was more than 70 per cent. Since 

the beginning of the conflict in December 2013, the 

fragile gains made in basic education in the previous 

few years had been seriously undermined: 400,000 

children had been forced out of school and were 

consequently at greater risk of harm, including through 

child labour, child marriage and sexual violence; over 

12,000 had been affected by the recruitment and use of 

children by armed groups. A dual-track approach was 

required to ensure that all children across the country 

had access to education. For children in conflict-

affected areas, a comprehensive package of services 

should be provided, including learning spaces, 

supplies, teacher training and psychosocial support. In 

other areas, out-of-school children should be targeted 

through community-based mobilization and improved 

educational quality. The ongoing capacity-building and 

advocacy work undertaken by UNICEF and the United 

Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural 

Organization, in cooperation with ministries, 

communities and traditional leaders, would thereby be 

significantly advanced. 

17. Mr. Sacco (Food and Agriculture Organization of 

the United Nations (FAO)), speaking via video link 

from Juba, said that the impact of the current crisis on 

agriculture and food security had been immense and 

had included displacements along ethnic lines. People 

had been unable to return to their communities and to 

farming-based livelihoods; livestock movements, 

agricultural production and commercial food-supply 

corridors had been disrupted. Notwithstanding the huge 

potential of agriculture for economic diversification 

and improved food security, insufficient budget 

allocations and a lack of credible government 

legislation had impeded development planning for both 

public and private investments. The Comprehensive 

Africa Agriculture Development Programme and the 

Scaling Up Nutrition movement were just two of the 

initiatives that had been affected. Government 

institutional capacity and functionality had also been 

impaired. 

18. Humanitarian funding in 2014 had helped to save 

lives by reducing famine risk, though at the expense of 

resilience and capacity-building in states not directly 

affected by the conflict. To protect nutrition and food 

security in the future, humanitarian assistance should 

be expanded in conflict-affected areas, while, in those 

areas less affected, robust resilience development 

support was required to strengthen livelihoods. 

Sustained development aid flows remained the key to 

food security in South Sudan. Ongoing development 

projects needed to be reviewed and adapted to the new 

context while, in planning new recovery and 

development projects, it had to be assumed that new 

shocks and conflicts would occur. Lastly, continued 

efforts must be made to fill gaps in food security and 

nutrition information as a basis for decision-making. 

19. Mr. Deng (Observer for South Sudan) said that 

the Secretary-General’s report (E/2014/94) credibly 

documented the tragic developments in South Sudan 

and the challenges that it and its international partners 

faced. Understandably, the focus was on the aftermath 

of the outbreak of violence in December 2013 but the 

roots of the current situation lay deep in history. 

Following the dehumanization of precolonial times, the 

Anglo-Egyptian condominium rule had created the 

rudiments of a modern state in the north, while totally 

neglecting the south. Sudan’s independence in 1956 

had plunged the country into a 50-year war in the 

course of which the south had been devastated by loss 

of life, destruction of property and infrastructure, and 

massive population displacement. 

20. The independence of South Sudan had set the 

country on a new and hopeful course, supported by the 

United Nations and the international community. 

However, after a few years of building on the promise 

of its abundant natural resources — arable land, 

livestock, minerals and oil — the achievements of 

South Sudan had been largely wiped out by its own 

internal war. Under those circumstances, UNMISS, 

which reflected the Organization’s commitment to the 

country, had had to revise its priorities, putting its 

State-building and peacebuilding activities on hold, 

and prioritizing the protection of civilians, human 

rights monitoring and reporting, delivery of 

humanitarian assistance and support for the peace 

process. 

21. The fate of South Sudan lay with its people; 

however, with almost no modern State apparatus in 

place, they would continue to need international 

http://undocs.org/E/2014/94


E/2014/SR.52 
 

 

14-65057 6/10 

 

cooperation. The peacemaking efforts of the 

Intergovernmental Authority on Development (IGAD) 

were much appreciated, but the African Union and the 

United Nations still had an essential role to play. 

Support for capacity-building was the only way of 

enabling the State to carry out its responsibilities 

towards its people and their welfare. While every effort 

must be made to bring the war to an early end, 

capacity-building and development should not be 

deferred indefinitely. 

22. Mr. Alemu (Ethiopia) said that, after so many 

decades of war and suffering, the emergence of South 

Sudan as an independent country had inspired much 

hope. It had the potential to thrive and to lift its people 

out of poverty, provided that there could be a 

rebalancing of budgetary priorities, as called for by the 

Secretary-General in his report (E/2014/94). Despite 

the difficult and complex situation in the country, 

hopes could be rekindled and the IGAD-led peace 

process could succeed. There was no reason for the 

international community to lower its expectations for 

South Sudan: plans must be made for an early 

refocusing of efforts on development. 

23. However, without the commitment of the parties 

to the peaceful resolution of the crisis, not only would 

there be no prospects for the sustainable development 

of South Sudan but its very future would be imperilled.  

In addition, the existential challenge facing the country 

had horrendous implications for the peace and stability 

of the whole region. The role of IGAD therefore 

remained critical. 

24. There was an urgent need for the international 

community to provide predictable resources to meet 

the humanitarian needs of South Sudan and also to 

ensure that the crisis response plan was fully funded. 

His Government remained committed to assisting the 

people of South Sudan in their efforts to achieve peace 

and reconciliation and thus to create the conditions for 

a renewed focus on development. 

25. Mr. Lanzer (Deputy Special Representative of 

the Secretary-General for the United Nations Mission 

in the Republic of South Sudan (UNMISS); United 

Nations Resident Coordinator and Humanitarian 

Coordinator, and Resident Representative of the United 

Nations Development Programme), speaking via video 

link from Juba, said that there should indeed be no 

pause in the efforts to achieve peace and reconciliation 

at the community level and that the United Nations 

should continue to support them fully. Development 

work could still go forward in all states, not only those 

outside the conflict zone. Education, maternal health 

and food security were key issues in that regard; they 

were a humanitarian imperative, as well as the bedrock 

of development and of the future well-being of all the 

communities in South Sudan. It was therefore 

important that development actors should continue to 

work closely with UNMISS. 

 

Draft decision E/2014/L.33: African countries emerging 

from conflict 
 

26. The President said that the draft decision had no 

programme budget implications. 

27. Draft decision E/2014/L.33 was adopted. 

 

 (d) Long-term programme of support for Haiti 

(E/2014/95 and E/2014/L.34) 
 

28. Mr. Grant (Canada), Chair of the Ad Hoc 

Advisory Group on Haiti, introducing the report of the 

Ad Hoc Advisory Group on Haiti (E/2014/95), said 

that the country’s current macroeconomic performance, 

notably, its 4.3 per cent growth rate in 2013, suggested 

that there was momentum for development towards the 

ambitious objective of becoming an emerging country 

within 15 years. Positive results had also been 

achieved in the social sphere, including a drop in 

extreme poverty, a 50 per cent reduction in the number 

of underweight children and increased school 

attendance. The Ad Hoc Advisory Group nevertheless 

remained seriously concerned about the advancement 

and reinforcement of democratic stability in Haiti. The 

long-overdue elections must be held without further 

delay to ensure the proper functioning of democratic 

institutions, which should be a priority.  

29. To achieve sustainable progress, development 

partners and donors must remain engaged with the 

Government: development results could be jeopardized 

by political instability. Haiti was also vulnerable to 

natural disasters and sensitive to global economic 

trends. In the long process of capacity-building, special 

attention needed to be given to the key sectors of 

agriculture, manufacturing and tourism. 

30. Despite some concrete results, significant 

challenges remained in several priority areas. The 

energy sector had insufficient infrastructure and was 

operating at a loss; access to education had improved 

but educational quality remained deficient. In matters 

http://undocs.org/E/2014/94
http://undocs.org/E/2014/L.33
http://undocs.org/E/2014/L.33
http://undocs.org/E/2014/95
http://undocs.org/E/2014/L.34
http://undocs.org/E/2014/95


 
E/2014/SR.52 

 

7/10 14-65057 

 

of environmental protection, the United Nations still 

had a catalytic role to play. The provision of improved 

economic opportunities for the people of Haiti 

remained essential, particularly in the face of the rising 

inequality that had been observed over the previous 

decade. Services for internally displaced persons, 

including access to water and sanitation, continued to 

require the support of the international community, 

while national actors were also called to play a 

proactive role in providing sustainable solutions.  

31. United Nations support should be adapted to the 

process of transition in Haiti through additional steps 

towards a “Delivering as one” approach that could 

maximize the use of resources. The Ad Hoc Advisory 

Group accordingly called on the United Nations to 

review its integrated strategic framework with a view 

to consolidated planning, fundraising and programme 

implementation. Haitian institutions would require 

continued mentoring and support, while the capacity-

building activities carried out by the country team and 

MINUSTAH should focus on governance, institution-

building and human rights issues. Development 

partners should continue to support key government 

priorities, including the recruitment and training of 

national police as a key factor of stability. It was also 

important to support the judicial and penitentiary 

systems as part of a holistic approach to embedding the 

rule of law in the country. The Ad Hoc Advisory Group 

welcomed the efforts to improve coordination of 

external aid, particularly through the external aid 

coordination framework, but considered that a more 

targeted approach in key areas such as economic 

growth could accelerate progress. 

32. Haiti had entered a new, crucial development 

phase in which economic and social progress must be 

reflected in political dynamics in order to ensure its 

sustainability. A comprehensive, long-term vision was 

required, supported by the long-term engagement of 

the international community and local actors. The 

Haitian authorities, for their part, must fully assume 

their responsibilities and continue to develop the 

capacity to do so. Commitment and better coordination 

were key to a better future for the Haitian people.  

33. Mr. de Clercq (Deputy Special Representative 

for the United Nations Stabilization Mission in Haiti 

(MINUSTAH); United Nations Resident Coordinator 

and Humanitarian Coordinator, and Resident 

Representative) said that, since the earthquake in 2010, 

Haiti had made steady progress towards achieving 

most of the Millennium Development Goals, as 

outlined in the report of the Ad Hoc Advisory Group 

on Haiti (E/2014/95). One of the challenges currently 

facing the country was that elections had been 

postponed because of an ongoing stalemate between 

the Government and a group of opposition senators. 

The President had stated his intention to continue 

consultations and it was to be hoped that there would 

soon be a breakthrough, although any expectations in 

that regard should be tempered by realism. Despite 

repeated calls for dialogue to resolve the crisis, 

elections could not be expected to be held before 2015, 

probably within a time frame of about five months. The 

recent increase in violent demonstrations and the 

troubled political environment made it difficult for the 

Government to position itself as a credible and stable 

cooperation partner with the international community. 

The political instability could also make Haiti less 

attractive for business and investments. Furthermore, 

concern had been expressed by the Government about 

the impending 55 per cent reduction in the troop 

strength of MINUSTAH. 

34. The United Nations was well aware that the 

coming period would be a time of transition, which 

would require it to work in new ways and to move 

from a relief to a development environment, as the role 

of the Government increased and that of international 

actors decreased. The process of deactivating the 

emergency coordination forums would be complete by 

the end of the year. The Government was increasingly 

able to take over such responsibilities, including for 

emergency response, as recently illustrated by the 

action of its Directorate for Civil Protection following 

flooding in the north of the country. The Mission 

would therefore be adopting a different approach to 

resource mobilization in 2015 and, for the first time 

since the earthquake, would not be making its annual 

humanitarian appeal. It intended to launch instead a 

transitional appeal with a two-year time frame, in 

support of social sectors. Given that much of the 

population lived near the minimum subsistence level, 

its aim would be to help build resilience among 

vulnerable groups and prevent them from falling victim 

to any future crisis. It would mainly target households 

experiencing extreme deprivation, particularly in 

camps and poorly served urban areas, as well as 

extremely vulnerable households in communes deemed 

to be at the highest risk of cholera transmission. In that 

regard, a long-term plan had been developed with a 

focus not only on cholera but on all water-borne 

http://undocs.org/E/2014/95


E/2014/SR.52 
 

 

14-65057 8/10 

 

diseases, aimed at improving sanitation and public 

health. The appeal also targeted population groups at 

risk, including those vulnerable to becoming stateless 

as a result of cross-border migrations and those 

displaced by intercommunal tensions and violence.  

35. With regard to the recommendations made to the 

United Nations system in the report of the Ad Hoc 

Advisory Group on Haiti, in order to further the 

“Delivering as one” approach he had initiated a review 

of the integrated strategic framework so as to promote 

closer cooperation between the current MINUSTAH 

structure and the United Nations agencies. Areas for 

potential mutual support were being identified, 

together with substantive areas in which the Mission 

could step back and the agencies could assume an 

active role as part of the consolidation process. Some 

of the joint initiatives planned would be covered by the 

transitional appeal. 

36. As for the recommendation that the transition 

process should be planned in such a way as to secure 

continued assistance by the United Nations system in 

peacebuilding-related areas, including through the 

possible involvement of the Peacebuilding 

Commission, such close cooperation was indeed a 

basic requirement for the transition. Consultations had 

already begun with the Peacebuilding Support Office 

to secure its active participation in the work of the 

country team, with the Government’s involvement. In 

the current unstable context, the aim was to enable 

decentralized structures to play a clear role in conflict 

resolution and mitigation and at the same time to foster 

democratic dialogue. A joint leadership retreat would 

soon be held with all the United Nations agencies and 

MINUSTAH, in order to finalize the integrated 

strategic framework, which would be the road map for 

further cooperation. 

37. With regard to the recommendation concerning 

the need for appropriate financial support for the 

transition, the handover from the Mission to the 

agencies would clearly call for a resource mobilization 

strategy. Recent discussions with a civilian staffing 

review mission from the Department of Peacekeeping 

Operations had covered various possibilities, including 

secondments of agency staff to available MINUSTAH 

posts in substantive areas or the use of funds currently 

earmarked for community violence reduction.  

38. He supported the recommendation that 

development activities should be increased outside 

Port-au-Prince and that specific steps should be taken 

to strengthen the capacities of local authorities and 

civil society in the provinces. There was a risk that 

dynamics in rural areas would be neglected as a result 

of the consolidation of the Mission including the 

gradual reduction in its field presence, which would 

adversely affect the stabilization of Haiti.  

39. Concerning the recommendation that efforts 

should be made to improve aid effectiveness, it was 

necessary to improve the current external aid 

coordination framework. Accordingly, he had initiated 

discussions with a number of ministries in addition to 

the Ministry of Planning and External Cooperation, 

with a view to achieving a more results-oriented type 

of coordination. There were signs that the Government 

wished to move in the same direction. The 

international community was clearly ready to move 

ahead with the transition and to acknowledge a much 

stronger role for the Government. The United Nations 

would need to support that process while maintaining a 

realistic sense of the political environment, as political 

instability could affect the sustainability of the steps 

taken. 

40. Mr. Carrera Catro (Guatemala) said that, while 

the current relative stability of Haiti offered a window 

of opportunity for more sustainable economic growth 

and political development, the country remained 

vulnerable. His delegation was deeply concerned that 

elections had not been held for three years and 

reiterated its call for the Haitian authorities to organize 

them without delay. It was vital to improve dialogue 

between the executive and legislative branches of 

Government and create a climate conducive to 

democratic, participatory public management. Without 

a genuine national compact, it would be difficult to 

find a way out of the current political impasse: the 

establishment of a new parliament would be an 

occasion to restore trust. 

41. Economic growth was only meaningful when it 

was reflected in a significant improvement in people’s 

living standards. Investments must continue to be made 

in social programmes aimed at reducing inequalities 

and providing humanitarian assistance to the most 

vulnerable groups; efforts were also needed to 

strengthen rule of law institutions, in particular through 

an improved and larger police force and the continued 

reform of the judicial and penitentiary systems. The 

situation required the ongoing commitment of the 

donor community, since development took time. The 



 
E/2014/SR.52 

 

9/10 14-65057 

 

full operationalization of the external aid coordination 

framework was critical for ensuring accountability and 

effective assistance; it would also strengthen the 

Government’s administrative capacity to distribute 

funds to national institutions and implement projects 

more quickly. Coordination among all stakeholders, 

including development banks, international aid 

agencies and the Government, must also be improved. 

His delegation therefore supported the Ad Hoc 

Advisory Group’s recommendation that the 

Government and its partners should draft a compact 

defining the expectations of each party. 

42. It was important that the United Nations country 

team should continue to support the Haitian authorities, 

particularly during the transition phase. As for 

MINUSTAH, while its main concern was stabilization, 

stability was not an end in itself but a means to 

promote social and economic development. Serious 

gaps in the consolidation process, in fragile areas such 

as security and justice, must be addressed before there 

could be an effective transition. The Peacebuilding 

Commission could have a useful role in closing the gap 

between security and development but its involvement 

had to be requested by the Government and the request 

discussed in the proper forum; it was a subsidiary 

organ of the General Assembly and the Security 

Council and not of the Economic and Social Council.  

43. Ms. Nazaire (Haiti) said that her delegation 

appreciated the Advisory Group’s balanced and 

detailed report on the economic, political, health and 

security issues facing Haiti, which was at a decisive 

moment in its history and needed to consolidate its 

democratic gains while striving to achieve economic 

growth and sustainable development. Significant 

advances had been made in recent years at all levels, 

but huge challenges remained. Her Government 

therefore attached particular importance to the 

understanding, solidarity and collaboration of the 

international community, primarily the United Nations. 

It would continue to cooperate with the United Nations 

in building a more just, humane and fraternal national 

and international order. 

44. Mr. Olguín Cigarroa (Observer for Chile) said 

that the national plan for the elimination of cholera in 

Haiti and the related initiative of the Secretary-

General, which had together significantly reduced the 

number of cholera cases in the country, attested to the 

importance of the international community’s support. 

More remained to be done, however, particularly from 

a long-term perspective. It was therefore essential that 

donors should meet their financial commitments in 

order to support measures to strengthen health care, 

water and sanitation systems and prevent the spread of 

cholera and other diseases. His Government remained 

committed to the institutional strengthening of Haiti at 

the bilateral and multilateral levels, as well as through 

its participation in MINUSTAH, which continued to 

have a fundamental role to play. 

45. Chile had been involved in a number of projects 

in Haiti, in the areas of education, reconstruction, 

social development and human capital formation, and 

was currently exploring other areas, including in 

relation to the evaluation of public investment, the 

environment, youth employment, police capacity and 

the strengthening of civil society. The international 

community should continue to foster dialogue among 

all stakeholders, and the Haitian executive and 

legislative authorities should continue to work together 

to strengthen the rule of law and promote social 

inclusion in order to reinforce democracy, which was 

essential to achieve socioeconomic development and 

encourage foreign investment. 

46. Mr. Grant (Canada), Chair of the Ad Hoc 

Advisory Group on Haiti, reiterated that Haiti 

continued to face a number of key challenges, 

particularly in respect of poverty alleviation and the 

provision of basic services. He expressed appreciation 

for the support of the Haitian Government, without 

which it would have been difficult for the Advisory 

Group to conduct its visit or prepare its report.  

47. Mr. de Clercq (Deputy Special Representative for 

the United Nations Stabilization Mission in Haiti 

(MINUSTAH); United Nations Resident Coordinator 

and Humanitarian Coordinator, and Resident 

Representative) said that the Haitian Government had an 

irreplaceable role to play and was rightly beginning to 

focus on development issues. Current humanitarian 

issues were in fact manifestations of longer-term 

problems. Lasting solutions must, for instance, be found 

to the problem of settlements in areas prone to flooding 

or other natural disasters. While the Government was 

ready to move in that direction, it would require 

significant capacity and resources to do so. 

48. Bilateral partners had been closely cooperating 

with the country team and MINUSTAH in several key 

areas; however, no strong development partner had yet 

been found to support the Government in strengthening 



E/2014/SR.52 
 

 

14-65057 10/10 

 

the penitentiary system, which was an important area 

of concern to all stakeholders. The country remained 

vulnerable, as demonstrated by the recent floods, since 

small shocks could greatly affect large numbers of 

people. While there was a governmental structure to 

address humanitarian and emergency needs, namely the 

Directorate for Civil Protection, the operational 

response of line ministries also needed to be 

strengthened. 

 

Draft resolution E/2014/L.34: Ad Hoc Advisory Group 

on Haiti 
 

49. Mr. Grant (Canada), Chair of the Ad Hoc 

Advisory Group on Haiti, introducing the draft 

resolution, said that the Czech Republic, Portugal and 

Serbia had joined the list of sponsors.  

50. Mr. Gustafik (Secretary of the Council), 

delivering a statement in accordance with rule 31 of 

the rules of procedure of the Council, said that, should 

the draft resolution be adopted, it was estimated that 

the support to be provided to the Ad Hoc Advisory 

Group would consist of travel, daily subsistence 

allowance and terminal expenses for members of the 

Group and a staff member of the Department of 

Economic and Social Affairs to meet with the 

international financial institutions and the Organization 

of American States in 2015 and undertake a mission to 

Haiti in the same year. Meeting support services in 

Haiti would also be required. In the consideration of 

previous resolutions extending the mandate of the 

Advisory Group, the Secretary-General had advised 

that those requirements would be met within the 

resources approved under section 9, economic and 

social affairs, of the programme budget for the 

biennium 2014-2015. 

51. The total resource requirements required for the 

consultative missions to Haiti and Washington D.C. in 

2015 were estimated at $28,800, for which provision 

had not been made in the programme budget for the 

biennium 2014-2015. It was, however, expected that 

those requirements would be met within the resources 

approved under section 9 of the aforementioned 

programme budget. 

52. With regard to paragraph 12 of the draft 

resolution, in which the Secretary-General was 

requested to continue to support the Group’s activities 

adequately and within existing resources, the Council’s 

attention was also drawn to the provisions of section VI 

of General Assembly resolution 45/248 B and 

subsequent resolutions, in which the Assembly had 

reaffirmed that the Fifth Committee was the appropriate 

Main Committee of the General Assembly entrusted 

with responsibilities for administrative and budgetary 

matters and had also reaffirmed the role of the Advisory 

Committee on Administrative and Budgetary Questions. 

53. Draft resolution E/2014/L.34 was adopted. 

The meeting rose at 12.05 p.m. 

http://undocs.org/E/2014/L.34
http://undocs.org/E/2014/L.34

